ORIGINAL

FILED

11/18/2024

Bowen Greenwood
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 24-0382

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA 24-0382

IN THE MATTER OF THE PARENTING OF:

A.H.S., a minor child;

CHAD SENECHAL,

Petitioner Appellee,

And

MAIRA HORTA MOSS,

Respondent Appellant

FILED

NOV 18 2024

Bowen Greenwood
Clerk of Supreme Court
State of Montana

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

On Appeal from the Montana First Judicial District Court, Lewis and Clark
County, Cause No. DDR 2022-528, The Honorable Christopher D. Abbott

APPEARANCES

MAIRA HORTA MOSS
846 11th Avenue
Helena, MT 59601
Phone: (442)877-2313
Email: therapy@mairahorta.com

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from a child custody proceeding in the First Judicial District Court, Lewis and Clark County, which issued Findings Of Fact, Conclusions Of Law And Order Adopting Final Parenting Plan on May 22, 2024, notwithstanding an unresolved UCCJEA jurisdictional conflict with California. On May 21, 2024, the California Court of Appeals reversed and remanded a prior order of the San Diego County Superior Court which had ceded UCCJEA jurisdiction to Montana.

Despite granting Appellant's motion to take judicial notice of the California appellate ruling, the District Court's final orders incorrectly stated that the California appeal was still pending. Further, the Court improperly asserted jurisdiction based on an outdated order issued after the initiation of the appeal but before the California appellate decision, completely disregarding the appellate court's ruling.

Further, the court imposed overly broad travel restrictions on Maira, tied to the pending resolution of the California litigation, which significantly curtailed her and A.H.S.'s ability to maintain essential family and cultural connections in California and Brazil. Lastly, the District Court failed to adequately consider evidence of domestic violence against Maira in its assessment of the child's best interests.

ISSUES PRESENTED

- I. **Whether The District Court Erred In Asserting Jurisdiction And Issuing Final Custody Orders Without Proper Consideration Of The California Court Of Appeal's Ruling.**

- II. **Whether The District Court's Imposition Of Excessive Travel Restrictions Contradicts A.H.S.'S Best Interests And Unconstitutionally Restricts Maira's Right To Travel.**

- III. **Whether The District Court Err In Failing To Adequately Consider Evidence Of Domestic Violence When Determining The Best Interests Of A.H.S.**

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Background and Family Information

Appellant Maira Horta Moss ("Maira") and Appellee Chad Senechal ("Chad") are the natural parents of A.H.S, born February 20, 2018 - presently six years old. A.H.S was born in San Diego and lived there continuously with both Maira and Chad until April 2020, a period of 2 years and 9 months. (Dkt. 171 at 2).

Maira and A.H.S. are dual citizens of Brazil and the United States, both speak English, Portuguese and Spanish and A.H.S. has been raised with a strong connection to her Brazilian culture. (Id.; Dkt. 32 at 5). Maira has resided in San Diego since 1996, where she earned her master's degree and became a Licensed Clinical Therapist, establishing her specialized marriage and family counseling practice in San Diego. Maira's business is also part of a collaboration with the

Brazilian Embassy as a Latin Cultural Specialist advocating for minority populations in San Diego. (Dkt. 32 at 5; 5/1/24 Tr. at 16:4-7). Currently, Maira provides counseling services to her clients in California primarily through telehealth. Maira also has an inactive license in Montana which prohibits her from working as a therapist in Montana. (Dkt. 171 at 2; 5/1/24 Tr. at 56:3-7). Chad, originally from Montana, relocated to San Diego in 2010. He has worked in cybersecurity, previously for San Diego-based Cypher Analytics, and as of September 23, 2024, has with Eviden, a subsidiary of the multinational company Atos. His role with Eviden includes occasional travel, both domestic and international. (Dkt. 171 at 4; 4/17/24 Tr. at 100:2-24).

Temporary Relocation to Montana

In April 2020, the family temporarily moved to Clancy, Montana, to stay with Chad's parents as a precaution against the COVID-19 pandemic, retaining their San Diego residence until November 2020. (Dkt. 32 at 2-3).

For the next two years, Maira and A.H.S. divided their time between Brazil and Montana. At the time of Chad's filing of the petition for parenting plan and ex parte motion for interim parenting plan, A.H.S. had only resided in Montana for a period of *roughly four months* - from April 23, 2023 to September 4, 2022. (Dkt. 171 at 2.).

The parties purchased an investment property in Helena, Montana, in September 2020 and resided there from February 21, 2021, until November 12, 2021, after which Maira and A.H.S. went to Brazil for the winter for about 5 ½ months, where A.H.S. attended school. Maira and A.H.S. returned to Montana on April 23, 2022, and stayed in the home to help finalize renovations until the property was sold in September 2022. (1/17/24 Tr. at 19:15-25;22:5-11).

End of Relationship and Domestic Violence

The parties' relationship officially ended September 3, 2022. At that time, Maira and Chad had rented an Airbnb and were in the process of selling their house in Helena with a plan of moving back to San Diego. (Dkt. 171 at 2). On that day, the Helena Police Department (HPD) was dispatched to a domestic disturbance. According to HPD Officer Nick Ransom, Maira reported that she and Chad had a disagreement over finances when Chad became angry and punched a wall or railing near Maira's head multiple times, causing her to fear injury. (4/17/24 Tr. at 133:1-9). A.H.S. was present in the house during the incident. (Dkt. 171 at 2).

Safety Measures and Legal Proceedings in California

On September 4th, Maira and A.H.S. left the State of Montana and flew to San Diego, California. After Maira arrived in San Diego, she received a text message from Chad, threatening to report her to the police for kidnapping and have her jailed. (Dkt 32 at 17).

On September 7, 2022, Maira filed a Request for Domestic Violence Restraining Order (“DVRO Request”) and Child Custody and Visitation Orders in San Diego Superior Court Case No.22FDV04321C, seeking a protection order for herself and A.H.S. from Chad. Maira testified that following her arrival in San Diego, Chad engaged in stalking behavior, contacting mutual friends and inserting himself in her HIPAA protected work phone account even after he agreed to remove himself from her account. The San Diego court granted a temporary restraining order on September 7, 2022 and set the matter for hearing on September 21, 2022. The SD Court also issued a second restraining order. (1/17/24 Tr. at 54:5-7,56:5-8. 1/17/24 Trial Exhibit W).

Chad’s Filings in Montana

The following day, on September 8, 2022, Chad filed a petition for parenting plan and an *ex parte* motion for emergency interim parenting plan in the Montana First Judicial District Court for Lewis & Clark in which he asserted that A.H.S. had continuously resided in Montana from September 2020 to August 2022. (Dkt.1 at 2). The petition alleged that Maira had taken the child out of state and cut off contact with him. Chad made no mention of the precipitating domestic violence assault, or of the parties’ long-standing plan to return to San Diego or the fact they had no place to stay in Helena and their belonging were in possession of the movers already. (Dkt. 2 at 1; Dkt. 171 at 3). Chad’s *ex parte* motion misrepresented the timeline of the

minor child's stays in Montana and Brazil from April 2020 until September 2022, falsely suggesting that the child had primarily resided in Montana for at least 6 months before filing the motion. (Id.).

On September 9, 2022, the Montana court approved Chad's *ex parte* motion and interim parenting plan without input from or service on Maira, severely restricting her parenting time to two, four-hour evening visits a week, monitored by Chad's family members. The order also mandated that Maira return A.H.S. to the child's "*home state* of Montana" within 14 days and surrender the child's passports to Chad. (Dkts. 5 and 6 at 2-3; Dkt. 171 at 3).

Domestic Violence Charges Against Chad

On September 23, 2022, HPD determined there was probable cause to charge Chad with partner family member assault (PFMA) for causing reasonable apprehension of bodily injury, a misdemeanor criminal offense defined in Mont. Code Ann. 45-5-2-6(a)(a), in Case Number TK-520-2022-0001699. (Dkt 171 at 3). A no contact order followed. (Dkt. 28 at 3; and 1/17/24 Trial Exhibit W).

On February 1, 2023, Chad entered into a Deferred Prosecution Agreement. Under the terms of the agreement, the charges against Chad were dismissed a year later. (Dkt. 171 at 3; 5/1/24 Tr. at 43:1-8, Exhibit L). Nevertheless, while still under a no contact order, Chad sent a stuffed toy to A.H.S. in California with a tracking device hidden inside, violating the California law. (Dkt. 32 at 19).

Ongoing Jurisdictional Disputes

Chad moved to quash service of Maira's California filings, asserting a lack of jurisdiction. Maira opposed, emphasizing UCCJEA requirements. On October 17, 2022, Maira filed a supplemental memorandum of points and authorities which argued that both CA Family Code §3425, subdivision (a) and CA Family Code §217 require evidentiary hearings in UCCJEA matters. (Dkt 169, Ex. A at).

California Cedes Jurisdiction to Montana Without Adhering to UCCJEA Requirements or California Family Code §217

On October 18, 2022, the parties appeared for a UCCJEA telephone communication between the California court and the Montana Court. (Dkt 171 at 3-4). Subsequently, based solely on Chad's Petition asserting the child had resided in Montana from April 2020 until August 2022 with temporary absences to Brazil, the Montana court offered its view that Montana had home state jurisdiction. (Dkt. 169, Ex. A at 4-6). Maira asserted that Chad had misrepresented the time the child spent in Montana and that Brail was not a temporary absence and there was no home state under the UCCJEA. (Id).

On October 21, 2022, in its later findings and order, the San Diego court found that Montana was the "most appropriate state to exercise UCCJEA Jurisdiction, finding the child has not resided in CA since March 2020. It further denied Maira's request for an evidentiary hearing pursuant to CA Family Code § 217. The court also ruled that it did not have personal jurisdiction over Chad, nor were his actions

in California sufficient to give California jurisdiction as to domestic violence. As such, Chad's Motion to Quash with respect to the DV action was granted on October 21, 2022. (Dkt. 169, Ex. A at 5-7).

Notice of Appeal In California and Motion for Stay

On December 15, 2022, Maira timely filed a Notice of Appeal from the October 21, 2022 Minute Order and on January 10, 2023, Maira filed an ex parte application and supporting documents requesting a stay of the San Diego court orders. These included a Notice of Lodgment and Request for Judicial Notice of documents related to the criminal domestic violence action which charged Chad with partner assault in Montana arising from the September 3, 2023 incident. (Id. at 6-9).

Chad Files a Motion For Criminal Contempt, Order to Show Cause and Issuance of a Warrant

On January 6, 2023, Chad filed a Motion for Contempt, Order to Show Cause and Issuance of Warrant against Maira in Montana. (Dkt. 18). The Court set a hearing on the Motion for January 24, 2023. Maira was not served with the filings and was not present at the hearing. The court then, issued a default hearing set for January 31, 2023. (Dkt. 19).

Subsequent Litigation in Montana

On January 26, 2023, Maira retained Attorney Sean P. Bracken who promptly entered an appearance and Notice and Acknowledgment of Service and Waiver acknowledging receipt of Chad's summons and petition for parenting plan. (Dkt.

22). The Default Hearing set for January 31, 2023 was vacated and the time for Maira to Answer the Petition was extended to February 15, 2023. (Dkt. 23).

On February 6, 2023, despite Maira not having a chance to respond to the September 8, 2022 petition for parenting plan, Chad filed a Motion for Contempt Re: Court's Order of September 9, 2022. (Dkt. 25).

On February 14, 2023, Maira filed a Motion for Substitute Judge and Dismissal Under Rule 12(b)(1),(2), and (3) and accompanying memorandum and affidavit in support. In her filing, Maira contended that the Montana court did not have proper jurisdiction over the custody matter, referencing previous rulings under the UCCJEA. (Dkt.28-32). On February 24, 2023, Chad filed his Objection to Maira's Motion for Substitute Judge and to Dismiss (Dkts. 33-35).

On February 27, 2023, Maira filed an Opposition to Motion for Contempt outlining Chad's continued and increasingly harmful and abusive behavior, which inflicted severe emotional and psychological distress on both her and the child. (Dkt. 34). Chad filed a Reply in support of his contempt on March 7, 2023 (Dkt 37).

On March 15, 2023, Chad also filed a notice of issue notifying the Montana Court of the parties' recent filings and apprising it of the temporary restraining order proceedings in California against him set for hearing on May 24, 2023, a pending motion to stay enforcement of the Montana Court's jurisdiction under the UCCJEA and an attempt to block the registration of the Montana Court orders in California.

(Dkt. 40). On March 17, 2023, the Court granted Maira's substitution motion and Judge Michael F. McMahon was substituted by Judge Christopher Abbott. (Dkts. 41-42).

Montana Court Reaffirms Jurisdiction and Orders Maira to Return A.H.S. and Show Cause Why She Should Not Be Held in Contempt

On May 18, 2023, the Montana Court denied Maira's motion to dismiss, and reaffirmed its jurisdiction under both UCCJEA and Montana law over the case. The Court further directed Maira to comply with specific mandates, including returning A.H.S. to Montana within 21 days of the order and placing her in Chad's care upon arrival. Additionally, the Court ordered Maira to appear in person and show cause as to why she should not be held in contempt. The Court also reaffirmed that the September 9, 2022 Order and Interim Parenting Plan would remain in full effect. (Dkt 51).

On May 31, 2023, Maira filed her Answer to the Petition for Parenting Plan disputing Chad's assertions and emphasizing her role as the primary caregiver highlighting concerns related to the child's safety and well-being. She also raised issues regarding Chad's domestic violence and the appropriateness of his proposed parenting plan in line with A.H.S.'s best interests. (Dkt. 53).

Chad Implements A Travel Ban On A.H.S.

On June 16, 2023, Maira submitted a status report to the Montana Court, informing it that she had taken all necessary steps to comply with the court's May

18, 2023, Order. However, Chad had imposed a travel ban on the child through TSA, which prevented her from boarding the flight out of California. This prevented A.H.S. from boarding the flight and subjected her to multiple distressing experiences at the airport. (Dkt. 56).

A.H.S. Returns to Montana

On June 24, 2023, once Chad's travel ban was removed, Maira returned A.H.S. to Chad in Montana. On July 17, 2023, she executed an affidavit notifying the Court that she had returned A.H.S. to Montana. (Dkt. 171 at 4; Dkt 63).

Maira Files Writ of Supervisory Control with Montana Supreme Court For Criminal Contempt Proceedings Against Her

On July 12, 2023, Maira filed a notice of writ of supervisory control and requested a stay of the July 21, 2023, criminal contempt hearing. She argued that the District Court erred by proceeding, as the State of Montana must prosecute a Title 3 indirect criminal contempt under Title 45, MCA, thereby violating her due process rights (Dkt. 62).

On July 20, 2023, the Montana Supreme Court granted Maira's Writ and dismissed the contempt proceeding. Subsequently, the district court vacated the show cause hearing. (Dkts.72-73). The district court set a final merit hearing for April 17, 2024. (Dkt. 171 at 4).

Maira Files Verified motion to Amend Interim Parenting Plan Pending Final Merits Hearing

On December 8, 2023, Maira filed a Verified Motion to Amend the Interim Parenting Plan and Request for Expedited Hearing, supported by her Affidavit and Proposed Parenting Plan. She cited concerns about the harm to the child's physical and emotional well-being due to the current limited time with her mother, Chad's failure to comply with the parenting time, and his deliberate gatekeeping tactics aimed at alienating the child from Maira and the maternal side of the family. (Dkts. 89 at p. 3-4, 90 and 91).

On December 22, 2023, Chad filed his Response opposing Maira's request to amend the Interim Parenting Plan, arguing that the existing supervision requirements were necessary to prevent her from absconding and that the issues had already been addressed in a May 2022 order. (Dkt. 104). Maira filed her Reply on January 6, 2024. (Dkt. 110).

On January 4, 2024, Maira filed a Petition for Contempt due to Chad's ongoing noncompliance with the parenting plan. She reported that from August of 2023 to January of 2024, Chad had interfered with her limited parenting time on at least 38 occasions, resulting in a total of 77 hours of missed parenting time and imposed other unilateral restrictions, such as, Professional Supervision of someone of his liking. He also interfered with telephone contact on at least 20 occasions over that same period.(Dkt. 107).

On January 8, 2024, the Court issued an order on Maira's Petition for Modification of Interim Parenting Time ruling that that the Court's May 18, 2023 order focused only on jurisdictional and forum issues and that Maira was entitled to be heard on the merits of the interim parenting plan. A hearing was scheduled for January 17, 2024. (Dkt. 111).

Interim Parenting Plan Ruling

The interim parenting plan hearing took place on January 17 and February 5, 2024. Following these hearings, the Court entered an amended interim parenting plan that afforded Maira unsupervised parenting time every other weekend and three-hours of mid-week parenting time. (Dkt. 133; Dkt. 171 at 4).

Final Merits Hearing

On April 17, 2024 and May 1, 2024, the final merits hearing occurred. At both hearings Maira appeared in person, representing herself and Chad appeared in person with his counsel. The Court heard testimony from Chad, Officer Ransom, A.H.S.'s therapists Kathleen Shea and Deisy Boscán and Maira. The Court also took judicial notice of the prior proceedings, findings of fact, and testimony in this matter. (Dkt. 171 at 2).

California Litigation and Court of Appeals Ruling

During the May 1, 2024 final merits proceeding, the Court inquired into the status of the litigation in California and specifically the appeal and was advised by

the parties of the oral argument scheduled for May 15, 2023. (5/1/24 Tr. at 60:19-25 and 61:1-14).

On May 21, 2024, the Court of appeals issued its order and opinion reversing the San Diego Superior Court's decision holding that it had not adequately addressed the UCCJEA jurisdictional issues and failed to afford Maira an evidentiary hearing. The appellate court ruled that the necessary statutory factors, such as home state jurisdiction or whether California was an inconvenient forum and whether Montana was the more appropriate jurisdiction, had not been fully considered. The case was remanded with instructions for the lower court to reassess jurisdiction and allow Maira to present evidence, including renewing her request for an evidentiary hearing. On that same day, Maira filed an unopposed motion to take judicial notice of the CA Court of Appeal's ruling with the District Court, along with a brief in support and a copy of the ruling. (Dkts. 168-169).

On May 22 2024 the Court granted Maira's request to take judicial notice of the California Courts ruling. (Dkt. 172).

Final Orders

On May 22, 2023, the District Court issued its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Final Parenting Plan. The plan established equal parenting time and joint legal custody between Maira and Chad. It designated Chad as the custodian of A.H.S.'s travel documents, imposed restrictive travel limitations, and provided

minimal vacation time that did not accommodate international travel for A.H.S. to visit Brazil. Additionally, the plan allowed Chad to claim the Child for tax purposes for two consecutive years and to have A.H.S. for Christmas two years in a row. (Dkts. 170, 171). Although the court took judicial notice of the California Court of Appeal's ruling—it did not address or incorporate this ruling into its order. (Dkt. 172). Nor did the District Court make its own jurisdictional analysis or reassessment of jurisdiction other than to hold that this Court has previously determined that the State of Montana has jurisdiction to make an initial child custody determination for reasons stated in the Court's May 18, 2023 Order. (Dkt. 171 at 10).

The final parenting plan also imposes travel restrictions prohibiting any out-of-state or international travel until all litigation related to A.H.S. or jurisdictional matters over parenting are resolved in California, or until written permission is obtained from the other parent. (Dkt. 170 at 4-5).

Additionally, the court's best interest analysis noted that A.H.S. had not experienced direct physical abuse despite Chad's history of domestic violence directed at Maira and while A.H.S. was present. (Dkt. 171 at 11).

Post Judgement Filings

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