Bowen Greenwood
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 24-0382

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA NO. DA 24-0382

#### IN THE MATTER OF THE PARENTING OF:

A.H.S., a minor child;

CHAD SENECHAL,

Petitioner and Appellee,

**AND** 

MAIRA HORTA MOSS,

Respondent and Appellant.

#### APPELLEE'S RESPONSE BRIEF

On Appeal from the Montana First Judicial District Court, Lewis and Clark County. The Honorable Christopher D. Abbott, presiding.

Case No. DR 2022-528

#### **APPEARANCES:**

Sara S. Berg LAIRD COWLEY, PLLC 2601 E. Broadway Street Helena, MT 59601 Telephone: (406) 541-7400

sberg@lairdcowley.com

Attorney for Appellee

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

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

There is no basis for reversing any provision of the District Court's Final Parenting Plan.

First, the District Court properly established jurisdiction over the parties' parenting matter pursuant to the Uniform Child Custody and Jurisdiction

Enforcement Act (UCCJEA) and Montana Code Annotated § 40-4-211(1). That initial jurisdiction determination is binding, continuous, and exclusive. Although Maira's California litigation is indeed ongoing, she repeatedly misrepresents the holding of the Court of Appeal's orders issued on May 21 and June 11, 2024. Nowhere in those orders does the California Court of Appeal issue any directive upon the Montana District Court, and nothing in the orders serves to undermine or change Montana's proper jurisdiction determination. Further contrary to Maira's contentions, the Montana District Court's characterization of the California matter as "pending" is accurate and does not constitute any error, nor did it create any harm which would merit revisit.

Second, no clear abuse of discretion exists, as the District Court issued the parties' Final Parenting Plan following multiple hearings and extensive witness testimony. The record is replete with information from both sides, including real time testimony heard over the course of two days, in addition to two days of testimony heard only months before regarding an interim plan. The District Court carefully considered the evidence and established the facts per its role as fact finder. To those facts, the District Court assigned weight and appropriately applied Montana Law, including the statutory best interest factors. Accordingly, the District Court issued a Final Parenting Plan awarding equal parenting time to Chad and Maira and adopting neither of the party's proposed parenting plans verbatim.

No abuse of discretion exists, and Maira's appeal instead represents an attempt to relitigate this matter.

#### **ARGUMENT**

As addressed below, each of Maira's arguments fails to demonstrate any abuse of discretion; instead, Maira's appeal constitutes an attempt to relitigate the District Court's findings with which she disagrees.

1) The District Court's determination of custody jurisdiction is supported by substantial credible evidence and proper application of the UCCJEA and Montana law, and no abuse of discretion occurred.

Maira's now yearslong challenge of Montana's jurisdiction continues to fail, despite her misrepresentations concerning the Court of Appeal's orders issued on May 21 and June 11, 2024. The District Court properly established custody jurisdiction pursuant to the UCCJEA and Montana law. Upon that initial determination, Montana's jurisdiction became binding, exclusive, and continuous. Maira directly acknowledged Montana's jurisdiction. (*See, e.g.* Dkt. 89, page 2; Dkt. 154, page 121, corresponding to Transcript January 17, 2024, 73: 12-14.) Maira continues to consent to the same by repeatedly availing herself of the District Court and exercising her equal parenting time according to its order. Contrary to Maira's repeated mischaracterizations, the pending California litigation has no bearing on Montana's jurisdiction determination, nor does her alleged "error" create any harm which would merit revisiting.

## a. The District Court properly established custody jurisdiction pursuant to the UCCJEA and Montana law.

As outlined above, this parenting dispute required an initial determination of jurisdiction pursuant to the UCCJEA due to the parties' competing filings in Montana and California. The District Court's determination of whether it has subject matter jurisdiction is a conclusion of law reviewed for correctness. In re Marriage of Sampley, 2015 MT 121, ¶ 6, 379 Mont. 131, 347 P.3d 1281. The Court's review of a district court's findings in support of jurisdiction questions does not involve the reweighing of conflicting evidence or substituting its judgment regarding the strength of the evidence for that of the district court. *In re B.K.*, 2018 MT 217, ¶ 17, 392 Mont. 426, 435, 425 P.3d 703, 709. Rather, the Court analyzes whether the district court's findings of fact are "sufficiently comprehensive and pertinent to the issues to provide a basis for decision, and whether they are supported by the evidence presented." B.K. at ¶ 17. Even when there is conflicting evidence, a district court's determinations will be upheld "where substantial credible evidence upholds its findings of fact and conclusions of law." Id.

Here, the District Court appropriately established jurisdiction over this custody matter pursuant to the UCCJEA and Montana Code Annotated § 40-7-211(1). First, the District Court and California Court conducted a proper UCCJEA conference based on the parties having initiated parallel custody proceedings in Montana and California. That UCCJEA conference, held on October 18, 2022, was

attended by both parties and their counsel, and afforded both parties the opportunity to be heard.

Furthermore, both parties agreed that A.H.S. had not resided in California for well over two years, and that during the six months preceding the parties' filings, the child resided in Montana and spent time in Brazil. Accordingly, the District Court determined that neither state represented A.H.S.'s "home state" as defined in the UCCJEA, Montana Code Annotated § 40-7-103(7). Appropriately, the California Court declined jurisdiction and dismissed Maira's proceedings. Maira continued to challenge jurisdiction in both courts and moreover, continued to defy the District Court's order to return A.H.S. to Montana.

On May 18, 2023, the District Court rejected Maira's request for dismissal and established Montana's proper jurisdiction pursuant to the determination that neither state amounted to A.H.S.'s "home state" pursuant to the UCCJEA. Jurisdiction was instead established upon the child's best interests, as specifically tied to her significant connections and substantial evidence existing within Montana. Mont. Code Ann. § 40-4-211(1)(b). Furthermore, the District Court rejected Maira's alternative contention that Montana should decline jurisdiction pursuant to Montana Code Annotated § 40-7-108; instead, the District Court outlined the factors demonstrating that Montana was not an inconvenient forum.

# b. Montana's custody jurisdiction determination is binding, exclusive, and continuous.

The UCCJEA directs that after having made a custody jurisdiction determination consistent with Montana Code Annotated § 40-7-201, the Montana court has "exclusive, continuing jurisdiction" over that determination. Mont. Code Ann. § 40-7-202. Exclusive, continuing jurisdiction is maintained, unless:

- (a) a court of this state determines that neither the child, the child and one parent, nor the child and a person acting as a parent have a significant connection with this state and that substantial evidence is no longer available in this state concerning the child's care, protection, training, and personal relationships; or
- (b) a court of this state or a court of another state determines that neither the child, a parent, nor any person acting as a parent presently resides in this state.

Id.

Despite Maira's misplaced contentions otherwise, none of the above determinations have occurred. The District Court maintains exclusive, continuing jurisdiction over this matter.

c. The California Court of Appeal's orders issued May 21 and June 11, 2024, have no bearing on Montana's binding, continuous, and exclusive jurisdiction.

Maira incorrectly asserts that the Court of Appeal's order issued on May 21, 2024 (Dkt. 168, pages 5-29), and subsequently modified by the order issued June 11, 2024 (Dkt. 176, pages 3-5), mandates the District Court to reassess its initial jurisdiction determination. Maira's arguments fail in several respects.

First, the Court of Appeal's opinion is very limited in its scope. It does not undermine the Montana jurisdictional order in anyway, nor does it imply that California should have jurisdiction. In fact, the Court of Appeal was unwilling to consider the District Court's binding determination of custody jurisdiction because that determination was not a part of the appellate record before it. To that point, the Court of Appeal expressly acknowledged that Chad had the right to bring up that determination in proceedings on remand, and to argue whether these post-appeal filings in the Montana court established the Montana court's exclusive UCCJEA jurisdiction, thereby mooting further California proceedings. (Dkt. 176, page 4.)

Second, the Court of Appeal did not make any finding that California rather than Montana should have UCCJEA jurisdiction; rather, it remanded the matter for further proceedings during which Maira may ask the trial court to consider the issue of UCCJEA jurisdiction.<sup>1</sup>

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The California Court hearing, scheduled for October 2025, will involve an examination of court documents and other information supplied by the parties under California Family Code section 3426, pursuant to which it may determine to initiate additional communication with Montana concerning jurisdiction, or it may determine that Montana is a more appropriate forum, and dismiss the proceeding. Accordingly, Chad expects that when this October 2025 jurisdictional hearing occurs, the California Court will dismiss its action in deference to Montana's subsequent assertion of exclusive continuing jurisdiction.

d. Maira repeatedly consented to and availed herself of the District Court's jurisdiction, including presently exercising equal parenting time per the Final Parenting Plan as ordered by the District Court.

Following the District Court's May 18, 2023, order, Maira repeatedly consented to and availed herself of the District Court's jurisdiction. For example, Maira filed a Verified Motion to Amend Parenting Plan and Request for Expedited Hearing which included a recitation of Montana's exclusive and continuing jurisdiction. (Dkt. 89, page 2.) During Maira's cross-examination during the January 17, 2024, hearing on interim parenting, she directly acknowledged Montana's jurisdiction. (Dkt. 154, page 121, corresponding to Transcript January 17, 2024, 73:12-14.) Maira otherwise appeared and testified before the District Court on multiple occasions. She proposed multiple versions of parenting plans, all contemplating both parties' parenting time based in Helena, and under the jurisdiction of the District Court. The District Court granted Interim and Final Parenting Plans under which both Maira and Chad have exercised parenting time for nearly 18 months.

e. Maira's claims concerning an alleged "error" are incorrect, nor would such error create a harm which would merit revisiting.

Finally, Maira incorrectly claims that the District Court's characterization of the California appellate matter as "pending" amounts to a clear error. Pursuant to the applicable California Rules of Court, the California matter in fact remained pending on the date the District Court issued the Final Parenting Plan and related orders.<sup>1</sup> Further, for an error to serve as the basis for reversal, it must be so significant as to materially affect the substantial rights of the complaining party. Rule 61, M.R.Civ.P.; *Zeke's Distrib. Co. v. Brown-Forman Corp.*, 239 Mont. 272, 278, 779 P.2d 908, 912 (1989). Nowhere in Maira's appeal does she address how such alleged error would result in any harm requiring it to be corrected in the interest of justice, nor does such basis exist. As outlined above, the Court of Appeal's order, regardless of its precise status or the date of any related oral argument, is simply of no consequence to the District Court's findings, conclusions, and orders.

For the reasons outlined above, Maira's challenge to the District Court's jurisdiction fails. Furthermore, Maira's ongoing efforts to undermine Montana's jurisdiction determination serve to underscore the central purpose of the UCCJEA, as imputed from its earlier version, the Uniform Child Custody Jurisdiction Act ("UCCJA"), which is to prevent conflicting exercise of custody jurisdiction and related problems of "forum shopping, self-help, and re-litigation of custody matters in never ending disputes." *Sampley* at ¶ 23-24.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Per California Rules of Court, Rule 8.272, available at <a href="https://courts.ca.gov/cms/rules/index/eight/rule8\_272">https://courts.ca.gov/cms/rules/index/eight/rule8\_272</a>, the California Court of Appeal's decision issued May 21, 2024, did not become final until the applicable time for review had expired and remittitur issued, which did not occur until July 31, 2024.

2) The District Court did not clearly abuse its discretion in including a temporary travel provision into the Parenting Plan.

Next, Maira's fails to demonstrate any abuse of discretion regarding the District Court's inclusion of a temporary travel provision applicable to A.H.S. in the Final Parenting Plan. Instead, Maira misrepresents the terms of the travel provision and fails to acknowledge that the provision applies only to A.H.S. and therefore impacts both parents equally. Most notably, she disregards the serious concerns related to her own conduct, to which the District Court specifically pointed in support of the temporary travel provision.

a. The subject travel provision, applicable only to A.H.S., supports the child's heightened need for stability and continuity of care, and the prioritization of frequent, continuous contact with both parents.

First, Maira misrepresents that she is restricted from traveling; this is incorrect. The referenced restriction provides:

<u>Travel outside the State.</u> For the remainder of 2024 or until all litigation related to A.H.S. or jurisdiction over parenting remains pending in the State of California, <u>whichever is later</u>, neither parent may take A.H.S. out of the state or the United States without the advance written permission of the other parent. In 2025, <u>if</u> all litigation related to A.H.S. is concluded, then either parent may travel out of state or internationally with A.H.S. during their parenting time (including the three weeks of vacation) upon giving reasonable advance notice to other parent. The traveling parent must provide the other parent in advance with a detailed itinerary and contact information for A.H.S. at all times.

(Dkt. 170, pages 4-5.)

As made clear above, this temporary provision applies only to the parties' child; therefore, both parents are temporarily limited from traveling out-of-state with A.H.S. Although Maira contends that such provision is contrary to A.H.S.'s best interest, the opposite is true.

Throughout this matter, the District Court afforded substantial weight to the testimony of the A.H.S.'s therapist, Kathy Shea, who repeatedly emphasized the child's heightened need for stability and continuity of her care and significant time with both parents, after having experience the disruption of care and denial of contact with Chad due to Maira's conduct. Here, the temporary travel provision further protects and supports the A.H.S.'s ongoing needs and best interests.

b. The temporary provision impacts both Chad and Maira equally and is necessary to prevent unnecessary complications while this ongoing matter reaches a conclusion in both Montana and California.

Both Chad and Maira are free to travel, although, both parents are temporarily limited from traveling out-of-state with A.H.S. Chad provided detailed testimony explaining that Maira's past conduct, including nearly ten months of disobeying the District Court's orders and depriving the child of contact with her father, understandably creates significant concerns that additional out-of-state travel with the child could unnecessarily complicate Maira's ongoing, voluntary litigation of jurisdictional questions. As such, a temporary travel limitation is both appropriately

narrow and necessary to prevent any potential for repeated efforts to further extend this matter while it progresses toward a conclusion in both states.

# c. Maira minimizes her own conduct and the related concerns underlying the District Court's decision to implement such provision.

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